#### **FILED**

DEC 09, 2015

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 33598-4-III

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### BRYAN BEWICK,

Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Marla L. Zink Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

### **

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in concluding law enforcement had sufficient basis to seize Mr. Bewick. (Conclusions of Law 1, 2, 4)
- 2. The trial court erred in concluding law enforcement properly searched Mr. Bewick's pocket for contraband when the limited basis for the initial detention had been achieved. (Conclusions of Law 3, 4)
- 3. The trial court erred in denying Mr. Bewick's motion to suppress. (Conclusion of Law 5)
- 4. The court improperly imposed legal financial obligations where Mr. Bewick lacks the ability to pay.

5. The boilerplate "finding" that Mr. Bewick has the ability to pay legal financial obligations is without support in the record.<sup>1</sup>

#### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. One of the carefully drawn and jealously guarded exceptions to the warrant requirement is that law enforcement may temporarily seize an individual for investigation if they have reasonable, articulable suspicion that criminal activity is afoot. But the suspicion must be particularized. Mere proximity to criminal activity is insufficient. Likewise, generic characteristics qualify too much of the population to satisfy particularized suspicion. Flight also does not necessarily indicate criminal activity. Did law enforcement lack a basis to conduct a warrantless seizure of Mr. Bewick where he matched a general description of a wanted fugitive's description, but lacked similarity on all particular characteristics, and where he fled from three U.S. Marshals in a large vehicle, wearing protective gear?
- 2. If a basis exists for a brief, investigative detention, the seizure must endure no longer than necessary to achieve the purpose of the investigation, must be related to the purpose of the investigation,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Trial counsel is working to have findings and conclusions entered pursuant to Criminal Rule 6.1(d). In the event that additional issues are raised by the entry or lack of entry of that order, appellate counsel will file supplemental assignments of error.

and must cease once the investigation is complete. Did law enforcement exceed the scope of the seizure when they held Mr. Bewick after they learned he was not the person they were seeking?

3. RCW 10.01.160 mandates waiver of costs and fees for indigent defendants. "[A] trial court has a statutory obligation to make an individualized inquiry into a defendant's current and future ability to pay before the court imposes LFOs." *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d 827, 830, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). While the trial court recognized Mr. Bewick is indigent, the court imposed legal financial obligations (LFOs) without mention of his inability to pay. Should this Court remand with instructions to strike LFOs?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Three United States Marshals on the Violent Offender Task

Force were looking for Brent Graham in Spokane Valley around one
o'clock in the afternoon. CP 27, 57. Mr. Graham was wanted on a
federal warrant. *Id.* He was known to be a white male with red hair,
blue eyes and a large tattoo on his neck. CP 6, 16. The officers
apparently believed Mr. Graham was average for height and weight. *Compare* CP 12, 27 with CP 6, 14. The officers believed Mr. Graham
was staying in an upstairs apartment, number 17, at an apartment

building at 12114 E. Cataldo Ave. CP 27, 58 (finding 2). In their brown GMC Tahoe sport utility vehicle and wearing protective tactical vests, they positioned themselves so they could watch the stairwell leading to apartment 17 and other apartments in the building. CP 27.

The U.S. Marshals saw a man and woman come down the apartment complex stairway. CP 58 (finding 3). The male had a "hoodie" over his head and sunglasses on his face. CP 27, 58 (finding 3). The officers could tell only that he was a white male of medium build. CP 14, 27. As the man approached his vehicle, the officers pulled in behind him to check his identity and "see if he was in fact Graham." CP 12, 20, 27-28. The male "attempted to abscond on foot." CP 20. An officer yelled "stop, police" and the man was "subdued" after a short pursuit. CP 20, 28, 58 (finding 6). He was identified as Bryan D. Bewick and his date of birth was obtained. CP 58 (finding 6). Mr. Bewick has brown hair and brown eyes,

A   Bewick Bryan David   W   N   M   05/07/1986   509   140   bro   bro	CODE	NAME: LAST, FIRST MIDDLE	RACE	ETH	SEX	DOB	AGE	HGT	WGT	HAIR	EYES
In Device, Dividi David	A	Bewick, Bryan David	W	N	M	05/07/1986		509	140	bro	bro

CP 14, in direct contrast with Brent Graham's red hair and blue eyes:



CP 16. The officers then knew Mr. Bewick was not Brent Graham, the fugitive subject of the warrant. *Id*.

Nevertheless, the officers continued to hold Mr. Bewick and saw him "attempting to access or accessing" his front left pocket. CP 58 (finding 7). They questioned Mr. Bewick about this, because the officers believed it was associated with an attempt to conceal or discard contraband. CP 58 (findings 7, 8). Mr. Bewick admitted to having drugs, the contraband was seized and he was charged with two counts possession of a controlled substance. CP 3, 58 (finding 8).

Before trial, Mr. Bewick moved to suppress the evidence as the poisonous fruit of an unlawful seizure. CP 6-23. The parties agreed as to the essential facts, but Mr. Bewick argued law enforcement did not have a lawful basis to seize him and that the scope of the seizure had

been exceeded by the time the officers suspected the contraband, CP 6-23, 29-31; 5/14/15 RP 3-6, 8-9. The court found the facts supported a "seizure and detention of [Mr. Bewick] in order to determine his identity" and the subsequent furtive behavior justified further investigation. CP 59. The court denied the motion to suppress. CP 59.

Mr. Bewick was sentenced after a stipulated facts bench trial. 6/1/15 RP 2-17; CP 36. In addition to time in custody, the court imposed 800 dollars in costs with 12 percent interest accruing immediately, but found Mr. Bewick indigent for purposes of appeal. CP 43-45, \_\_ (Sub. No. 2).

#### E. ARGUMENT

1. Law enforcement did not have reasonable, articulable suspicion to detain Mr. Bewick because he was seen in the same suspected area as an alleged fugitive who was also a Caucasian of medium build.

While Mr. Bewick does not challenge the trial court's factual findings, its conclusions of law are not privy to any discretion. This Court's review is de novo. *State v. Gatewood*, 163 Wn.2d 534, 539, 182 P.3d 426 (2008).

a. <u>Presence in an area suspected of criminal activity is not</u> enough to support a warrantless seizure.

As a general rule, under the Fourth Amendment and article 1, section 7, warrantless searches and seizures are per se unreasonable. *Coolidge v. New Hampshire*, 403 U.S. 443, 454-55, 91 S. Ct. 2022, 29 L. Ed. 2d 564 (1971); *State v. Williams*, 102 Wn.2d 733, 736, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984).<sup>2</sup> The State therefore bears the heavy burden of proving that a particular warrantless search or seizure falls within an exception to the warrant requirement. *State v. Houser*, 95 Wn.2d 143, 149, 622 P.2d 1218 (1980). A limited and jealously-guarded exception permits an officer to briefly detain, for limited questioning, a person whom he reasonably suspects of criminal activity and to frisk the person for weapons if he has reasonable grounds to believe the person to be armed and presently dangerous. *State v. Broadnax*, 98 Wn.2d 289, 293-94, 654 P.2d 96 (1982) (relying on *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Because the federal agents here were operating under a task force designed to assist state and local law enforcement, their actions are subject to our State Constitution. *State v. Johnson*, 75 Wn. App. 692, 699-700, 879 P.2d 984 (1994) (citing *In re Teddington*, 116 Wn.2d 761, 774, 808 P.2d 156 (1991)) (federal agents subject to state constitution when cooperating with or assisting state officers); U.S. Marshals, Fact Sheet – Overview, <a href="http://www.usmarshals.gov/duties/factsheets/overview.pdf">http://www.usmarshals.gov/duties/factsheets/overview.pdf</a> (last viewed

http://www.usmarshals.gov/duties/factsheets/overview.pdf (last viewed Dec. 9, 2015) (Marshals "provide assistance to state and local agencies" and "combine the efforts of federal, state and local law enforcement agencies").

1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968)), abrogated on other grounds by Minnesota v. Dickerson, 508 U.S. 366, 113 S. Ct. 2130, 124 L. Ed. 2d 334 (1993).

For even a brief seizure to be permissible, an officer must have a reasonable and articulable suspicion that the person stopped is engaged in criminal conduct. *State v. Doughty*, 170 Wn.2d 57, 62-63, 239 P.3d 573 (2010). To justify a *Terry* stop, the police officer must identify specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant an intrusion. *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 21; *State v. Armenta*, 134 Wn.2d 1, 10, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997).

Suspicion of criminality must relate to the person seized or searched, not to the location where he is found. *See State v. Smith*, 102 Wn.2d 449, 452-53, 688 P.2d 146 (1984). For example, an individual's presence in a high-crime area is insufficient to establish probable cause. *See State v. Crane*, 105 Wn. App. 301, 312, 19 P.3d 1100 (2001), *overruled on other grounds by State v. O'Neill*, 148 Wn.2d 564, 62 P.3d 489 (2003); *Brown v. Texas*, 443 U.S. 47, 52, 99 S. Ct. 2637, 61 L. Ed. 2d 357 (1979). Further, mere association with a person whom police have grounds to arrest does not constitute probable cause for

arrest. *United States v. Di Re*, 332 U.S. 581, 587, 68 S. Ct. 222, 92 L. Ed. 210 (1948) (search of a car passenger unjustified when the driver was arrested). Likewise, the mere proximity to others suspected of criminal activity does not establish probable cause for a search of the associate. *Crane*, 105 Wn. App. at 312; *State v. Dorsey*, 40 Wn. App. 459, 466, 698 P.2d 1109 (1985) (probable cause based on association with others engaged in criminal activity requires an additional circumstance that reasonably implies knowledge of or participation in that activity).

b. Flight from law enforcement does not create reasonable, articulable suspicion justifying a warrantless seizure.

In the absence of other circumstances implicating a crime, simply acting suspiciously does not give the law enforcement the authority to stop an individual. *State v. Walker*, 66 Wn. App. 622, 629, 834 P.2d 41 (1992) (finding that an officer investigating a report of suspicious behavior in a neighborhood inappropriately stopped a man who appeared startled when he saw the officer and turned onto another street to avoid him); *State v. Henry*, 80 Wn. App. 544, 552, 910 P.2d 1290 (1995) (nervousness is not sufficient for a *Terry* stop).

Flight alone does not justify a seizure. "Startled reactions to seeing the police do not amount to reasonable suspicion." *Gatewood*,

enforcement can only justify a warrantless stop when combined with other <u>individualized</u> suspicion. *State v. Larson*, 93 Wn.2d 638, 645, 611 P.2d 771 (1980) (suspect's leaving at the time a police cruiser arrives does not necessarily lead to the conclusion that it is reasonable to suspect the person of committing a crime); *State v. Graham*, 130 Wn.2d 711, 725-26, 927 P.2d 227 (1996) (finding probable cause when, in addition to ignoring officer's request to stop, the defendant quickly concealed an object in his pants pockets, looked nervous, and sweated profusely on a cold night); *State v. Hobart*, 24 Wn. App. 240, 243, 600 P.2d 660 (1979), *rev'd on other grounds*, 94 Wn.2d 437, 617 P.2d 429 (1980) (after officer asked if defendant had cocaine in his pocket, defendant grabbed his pocket and turned away).

c. Mr. Bewick's generic look, appearance in the suspected area of a fugitive and flight from law enforcement did not justify a seizure.

The officers here had a warrant for fugitive Brent Graham, who they believed to be in apartment 17. Around one o'clock in the afternoon, Mr. Bewick exited from a stairwell associated with a number of apartments, including number 17. Apparently like Mr. Graham, Mr. Bewick is white and of a medium build. *See* CP 14 (Bewick is 5'09'

and weighs 140 pounds); CP 27 (Bewick's physical stature matched Graham's). This was all the officers could tell. CP 27. "This description [Caucasian of medium build] is so general that it fits a very large group of ordinary young men." *State v. Lee*, 97 Wis.2d 679, 685, 194 N.W.2d 547 (1980) (no reasonable, articulable suspicion to search "young, white male" in apartment where subject of warrant lived).

The officers could not have simply stopped anyone just because they happened to be near the apartment complex. *Smith*, 102 Wn.2d at 452-53 (general practice of frisking individuals in particularly dangerous area of the city is not justified by probable cause). Our constitution does not "authorize general, exploratory searches." *York v. Wahkiakum Sch. Dist. No. 200*, 163 Wn.2d 297, 315, 178 P.3d 995 (2008). Yet, the officers here pulled in behind Mr. Bewick on scant more. For a seizure to be permissible, an officer must have a reasonable suspicion that the person stopped is the one engaged in criminal conduct. *Doughty*, 170 Wn.2d at 62-63. The officers lacked that basis here.

Mr. Bewick did nothing to act suspiciously. He simply walked down a stairwell in an apartment complex suspected of containing a fugitive. Even if Mr. Bewick had been found <u>inside</u> the suspected

apartment of the fugitive, the officers would have needed more to formulate articulable suspicion to conduct a *Terry* stop, or frisk him for weapons. *Broadnax*, 98 Wn.2d at 98-99, 101 (requiring suppression of evidence seized from individual found inside an apartment when officers executed a search warrant for the premises); *Lee*, 97 Wis.2d 679 (seizure unlawful of person located in apartment where suspect was expected where both were young, white males). Nonetheless, based simply on his presence at Graham's apartment complex, white race, and average build, three U.S. Marshals in tactical vests and a dark, full-size sport utility vehicle suddenly pulled in behind him.

Mr. Bewick began to run away from the Marshals when Agent Eric Carlson effectuated a seizure by yelling "stop, police." CP 28; *Gatewood*, 163 Wn.2d at 540; *State v. Sweet*, 44 Wn. App. 226, 230, 721 P.2d 560 (1986).

Mr. Bewick was a white male of medium build at an apartment complex in the middle of the day. The fact that he ran when approached by a dark GMC Tahoe with three U.S. Marshals wearing tactical vests, is hardly surprising, let alone indicative of criminal activity. *See State v. Bruton*, 66 Wn.2d 111, 401 P.2d 340 (1965) (to admit at trial, State must substantiate that "departure from the scene . . .

was an instinctive or impulsive reaction to a consciousness of guilt or was a deliberate effort to evade arrest and prosecution"). It is a reasonable assumption that Mr. Bewick turned and ran in panic or because he was scared. In light of the scant additional suspicion of criminal activity particularized to Mr. Bewick, his flight does not create a lawful basis for a seizure.

It is prohibited to "pyramid[] vague inference upon vague inference" to circumvent the warrant requirement. *Bruton*, 66 Wn.2d at 113. The police lacked individualized, reasonable suspicion that Mr. Bewick was engaged in criminal activity simply because he was a white male of medium build at a given apartment complex and turned and ran from U.S. Marshals in protective gear who sprang upon him. While the officers arguably could have continued to follow Mr. Bewick or engage in a consensual encounter to determine his identity, they did not have a reasonable, articulable basis to detain Mr. Bewick. *See Gatewood*, 163 Wn.2d at 541.

d. The evidence resulting from the unlawful seizure must be suppressed.

Evidence obtained as a result of an unlawful, warrantless search or seizure must be excluded from criminal proceedings. *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 83 S. Ct. 407, 9 L. Ed. 2d 441 (1963);

State v. Garvin, 166 Wn.2d 242, 254, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009). The trial court erred in failing to suppress the contraband obtained from Mr. Bewick's pocket because they had no basis to stop him in the first place.

2. Because law enforcement had learned Mr. Bewick was not the fugitive Graham, the detention should have ended before law enforcement searched his pocket.

Even if the officers properly apprehended Mr. Bewick, the subsequently seized evidence must be suppressed because the search exceeded the scope of the initial detention.<sup>3</sup> The scope of a *Terry* stop is decidedly narrow. *E.g.*, *Broadnax*, 98 Wn.2d at 99-101. "An investigative detention must be temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop." *Florida v. Royer*, 460 U.S. 491, 500, 103 S. Ct. 1319, 1325, 75 L. Ed. 2d 229 (1983). "If the results of the initial stop dispel an officer's suspicions, then the officer must end the investigative stop." *State v. Acrey*, 148 Wn.2d 738, 747, 64 P.3d 594 (2003).

The court held the officers were authorized to conduct a limited "seizure and detention of [Mr. Bewick] in order to determine his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Like the preceding issue, the validity of the court's conclusion on this suppression issue is determined by this Court de novo. *State v. Garvin*, 166 Wn.2d 242, 249, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009).

identity." CP 59 (conclusion 2). According to the agreed facts, Mr. Bewick "was stopped by the officers after a short foot pursuit and identified as Brian D. Bewick with a date of birth of 05/07/86." CP 58 (finding 6). At this point the purpose of the stop had been effectuated. *See Royer*, 460 U.S. at 500. The officers had ascertained Mr. Bewick was not Brent Graham, the fugitive subject of the warrant. The lawfulness of the investigative detention ceased at this time. Mr. Bewick should have been released. *Acrey*, 148 Wn.2d at 747.

Law enforcement cannot prolong a detention while they gather additional evidence. *State v. Williams*, 102 Wn.2d 733, 739, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984). Yet here, the officers continued to seize Mr. Bewick after they had identified he was not a suspect in any criminal activity. After he was identified, Mr. Bewick "began accessing or attempting to access his left front pocket." CP 58 (finding 7). In response, the officers inquired of Mr. Bewick and searched his pockets. CP 58 (finding 8); *accord* CP 28 (contraband detected after identity was known). This was unrelated to the investigation they were conducting to find their fugitive suspect. *See Williams*, 102 Wn.2d at 740 (purpose of stop and basis for continuing detention must be related). Moreover, this further investigation and search occurred after the basis for the stop had been

achieved and after the reasonable suspicion for a brief investigative detention ended.

The subsequent search of Mr. Bewick's left front pocket was without authority. On this independent ground, the evidence seized should have been suppressed. *See Garvin*, 166 Wn.2d at 254.

- 3. The Court should strike the legal financial obligations because Mr. Bewick lacks the ability to pay.
  - a. The trial court found Mr. Bewick unable to pay legal costs, yet imposed legal financial obligations without analyzing his ability to pay those obligations.

Because he was indigent, the court appointed counsel for Bryan Bewick during the proceedings below. CP \_\_ (Sub. No. 2). At sentencing, the court imposed "fees and fines of \$200 court costs; \$500 to victim assessment; \$100 DNA fee" and "a 12% interest rate that does start running today when that judgment is filed" despite costs not being due until August 1, 2016. 6/1/15 RP 16. Contemporaneously, the court made Mr. Bewick aware he could appeal at public expense. 6/1/15 RP 18. Days later the court signed an order of indigency for appeal, based on Mr. Bewick's declaration that he was unemployed and entirely lacking in assets. CP \_\_\_ (Subs. Nos. 39, 40).

The State requested these "standard costs" totaling 800 dollars, but provided no argument or evidence that Mr. Bewick was able to pay those LFOs. 6/1/15 RP 13-14.

Despite the lack of evidence, the findings reflects a boilerplate statement that "The court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant's present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including the defendant's financial resources and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change." CP 40. This finding was not discussed at sentencing. The judgment imposed the 800 dollars sought by the State with interest accruing immediately. CP 43-45.

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