## FILED

NO 33598-4-III

FEB 05, 2016 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

COURT OF APPEALS

## OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

**DIVISION III** 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

BRYAN BEWICK, APPELLANT

## APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

OF SPOKANE COUNTY

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL Prosecuting Attorney

Brian C. O'Brien Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

## **

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "It is settled that law enforcement officers do not violate the Fourth Amendment by merely approaching an individual on the street or in another public place, by asking him if he is willing to answer some questions, by putting questions to him if the person is willing to listen, or by offering in evidence in a criminal prosecution his voluntary answers to such questions." *Florida v. Royer*, 460 U.S. 491, 498, 103 S.Ct. 1319, 1324, 75 L.Ed.2d 229 (1983).

determining reasonable suspicion." *Wardlow*, 528 U.S. at 124. Washington State courts follow this reasoning. "Furtive gestures, evasive behavior, and flight from the police are circumstantial evidence of guilt. *State v. Baxter*, 68 Wn.2d 416, 421–22, 413 P.2d 638 (1966) (flight is an element of probable cause); *State v. Huff*, 64 Wn. App. 641, 647, 826 P.2d 698, *review denied* 119 Wn.2d 1007 (1992) (furtive movements are facts supportive of probable cause)." *State v. Graham*, 130 Wn.2d 711, 725-26, 927 P.2d 227 (1996). Indeed, if a person runs from officers and refuses to stop when requested to do so, the person is committing the offense of obstructing a public servant. *See State v. Little*, 116 Wn.2d 488, 498, 806 P.2d 749 (1991).

Here, the officers had sufficient reasonable suspicion to stop Mr. Bewick where they had reason to believe he was the subject sought in the warrant, and he immediately engaged in an unprovoked headlong flight from the officers upon recognizing them as such. It was reasonable for the officers to consider this unprovoked headlong flight as further reason to believe that the fleeing subject was "wanted." "[T]he determination of reasonable suspicion must be based on commonsense judgments and inferences about human behavior." *Wardlow*, 528 U.S. at 125.<sup>3</sup> Additionally, "[a] determination that reasonable suspicion exists, however, need not rule out the possibility of innocent conduct." *United States v. Arvizu*, 534 U.S. 266, 274, 122 S.Ct. 744, 151 L.Ed.2d 740 (2002). *See also State v. Kennedy*, 107 Wn.2d 1, 6, 726 P.2d 445 (1986).

Mr. Bewick's headlong flight from the officers properly raised their suspicions, and, moreover, as they ran and then stopped him, they saw him accessing or attempting to access his front pocket which gave rise to a further reasonable suspicion that he was attempting to discard or conceal contraband. Based upon this suspicion, they asked him if he had drugs and he confirmed that he had illegal drugs in his pocket. This confirmation provided further reason to detain him and arrest him on the drug charges and an extant arrest warrant.

Appellant attempts to factually recast this portion of the stop and the timeline in the case. He attempts to claim that the officers had stopped him, had identified him as not being the subject wanted or sought by the Agents, but yet continued to detain him (for no cause) at which time he became fidgety and attempted to discard or hide the drugs in his pocket.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Compare *State v. Gatewood*, 163 Wn.2d 534, 540, 182 P.3d 426, (2008) (court notes that flight from police officers may be considered along with other factors in determining whether officers had a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, citing *State v. Little*, 116 Wn.2d 488, 496, 806 P.2d 749 (1991), but noted that Mr. Gatewood did not flee from the police).

## RP 14-16.<sup>4</sup> However, this claim as to how the sequence of events

transpired is refuted by the trial court's oral ruling on the subject:

Upon identifying themselves and attempting to contact Mr. Bewick, Mr. Bewick ran. There was a short foot pursuit. Mr. Bewick was detained at the point of the end of that short foot pursuit. Upon being detained, Defendant Mr. Bewick was, in the officers' opinion, being fidgety, displaying furtive movements, reaching around in the front left pocket of his jeans. The officer, based on training and experience, indicated in the report that his view was that Mr. Bewick might be attempting to hide, discard or destroy contraband or evidence in those motions and movements, in reference to the jeans pocket. It was reasonable on the part of the officers to interpret these movements as furtive gestures, again according to their experience and training. And at a point right after that, Mr. Bewick did indicate upon being asked the question that he did have contraband, i.e., unlawful drugs in his pocket. The officers then did an identification check, apparently, and learned that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Defendant cites to an officer's report (CP 28) for the non-judicial "finding" that the officers knew the defendant was not the subject, Mr. Graham, they were seeking, as soon as they stopped him. That report first notes that: "3. Mr. Graham was reportedly staying in an upstairs apartment, number 17. We were positioned in our vehicle watching the stairway that came down from that apartment. 4. Mr. Graham was a white male of which we had only a *general* description of his physical stature." CP 27 (emphasis added). "A white male, accompanied by a female, came down the stairway leading to apartment 17...."

Additionally, the booking photo of Mr. Graham that appellant *suggests* shows the officers knew that Mr. Bewick was not the Mr. Graham (Appellant's Br., p. 5) who was wanted on the federal warrant *was not taken until 5 days after Mr. Bewick's arrest* on February 19 (CP 58, Finding of Fact 1). *See* CP 16 (photo of Mr. Graham taken on 02/25/2015).

## Mr. Bewick had a warrant for his arrest, that in fact he was not Mr. Graham, and he was arrested.

RP 10-11 (emphasis added).

This oral ruling does not conflict with the trial court's written findings. An appellate court may consider a trial court's oral decision if it clarifies the written order, but not when it contradicts the written order. *State v. Kull*, 155 Wn.2d 80, 88, 118 P.3d 307 (2005), citing *State v. Bryant*, 78 Wn. App. 805, 812–13, 901 P.2d 1046 (1995); and see State v. *McReynolds*, 142 Wn. App. 941, 949, 176 P.3d 616 (2008). In the instant case, it was only after the fidgeting and admission that he had drugs that the officers learned that "in fact, he was not Mr. Graham, and he was arrested." RP 11, CP 58 (Finding of Fact 10). Defendant does not argue on appeal that this fidgeting and admission of having illegal drugs did not establish continuing probable cause or reasonable suspicion for the detention. No objection has been taken to factual findings 7 or 8. CP 58 (Finding of Facts 7, 8).

This factual situation is very similar to that in *Graham*, where our Supreme Court affirmed the conclusion that the officer's had probable cause to arrest Mr. Graham:

In the present case, the officers involved both had extensive experience and training in dealing with narcotics. Officer Bogucki testified that she had been involved in more than 1,000 narcotics arrests during a 5-year period.

Officer Hackett testified that she had made well over 1,200 felony drug arrests, with all but about 10 dealing specifically with rock cocaine. Both officers testified that they saw the defendant carrying a large amount of cash and a small packet containing what looked like rock cocaine.

The defendant's reaction when he saw the officers was to quickly conceal the contents of his hands and to hide it in his front pants pockets. He then ignored the officers' request to stop. He looked very nervous and was sweating profusely even though the temperature was cold to the officers. Furtive gestures, evasive behavior, and flight from the police are circumstantial evidence of guilt. *State v. Baxter*, 68 Wn.2d 416, 421–22, 413 P.2d 638 (1966) (flight is an element of probable cause); *Huff*, 64 Wn. App. at 647, 826 P.2d 698 (furtive movements are facts supportive of probable cause).

The facts and circumstances within the officers' knowledge were sufficient to cause a person of reasonable caution to believe the defendant possessed an illegal drug. They therefore had probable cause to arrest the defendant and were acting lawfully when they detained him.

Graham, 130 Wn.2d at 725-26.

Like in *Graham*, here, the officers had reasonable grounds to detain the defendant because he matched the limited description of the person they were seeking, and had come down the stairway that led to apartment 17. However, before detention could occur, and as they he approached him, he began his headlong flight away from them, adding to the existing basis for the stop. After he was apprehended, he was immediately observed to be acting furtively and in a manner consistent with one hiding illegal drugs - which he immediately admitted to. The trial court properly refused to suppress the evidence under these circumstances.

### B. THE DEFENDANT'S DETENTION WAS LAWFUL WHERE THERE WERE ADDITIONAL REASONS SUPPORTING HIS ARREST FOR OBSTRUCTING A PUBLIC SERVANT.

The defendant confesses and concedes that he ran away from the U.S. Marshals when Agent Eric Carlson yelled "stop, police." Appellant's Br., p. 12. ("Mr. Bewick began to run away from the Marshals when Agent Eric Carlson effectuated a seizure by yelling, 'stop, police."). Additionally, the trial court made the factual finding that the defendant, Mr. Bewick, fled from the officers *knowing* they were police. CP 58 (Finding of Fact 5); RP 10. Under these facts, the officers had additional probable cause to arrest Mr. Bewick for obstructing a public servant.

A person is guilty of obstructing if he willfully hinders, delays, or obstructs any law enforcement officer in the discharge of his or her official powers or duties. RCW 9A.76.020. Official duties encompass all aspects of a law enforcement officer's good faith performance of jobrelated duties, excluding conduct occurring when the officer is on a frolic of his or her own. *State v. Mierz*, 127 Wn.2d 460, 479, 901 P.2d 286 (1995). The *Mierz* Court further explained that *Mierz's* reliance on an obstruction case, *State v. Little*, 116 Wn.2d 488, 806 P.2d 749 (1991),

13

was misplaced, because that case held that defendants' flight from the officers and refusal to stop when ordered to do so constituted an obstruction of a public servant:

*Little*, in fact, supports the view that if officers stop a person for investigative purposes, that person's flight from the officer may be punished as the obstruction of a public servant in the performance of duties under RCW 9A.76.020. *Little*, at 496-97, 806 P.2d 749.

*Mierz*, 127 Wn.2d at 479.

In *State v. Hudson*, 56 Wn. App. 490, 784 P.2d 533, *review denied*, 114 Wn.2d 1016 (1990), Division One held that "[t]he established rule is that flight constitutes obstructing, hindering, or delaying within the meaning of statutes comparable to RCW 9A.76.020(3)." *Id.* at 497. In reaching this conclusion, the court examined both cases from our state and elsewhere:

We conclude the officers were performing official duties because there is no evidence they were acting in bad faith. "An agent, even if effecting an arrest without probable cause, is still engaged in the performance of his official duties, provided he is not on a 'frolic of his own'." *United States v. Martinez*, 465 F.2d 79, 82 (2d Cir.1972); *see People v. Carroll*, 133 Ill.App.2d 78, 272 N.E.2d 822 (1971).

Hudson, 56 Wn. App. at 496-96.

In City of Spokane v. Hays, 99 Wn. App. 653, 995 P.2d 88 (2000),

this Court examined an obstruction case where the defendant was a

passenger in a vehicle that was stopped for an infraction. He refused an officer's request to roll down the window, telling the officer that he had read in the paper that as a passenger he was not required to comply with law enforcement at a traffic stop. *Id.* at 656. Mr. Hays also alleged there was no lawful basis in the municipal code for stopping the car in the first place. *Id.* at 660. Addressing these arguments, the court affirmed the conviction, holding:

Mr. Hays' interpretation of the code has merit. (Footnote omitted). But the offense here was obstructing a police officer. It does not then make any difference that the original traffic stop was unjustified.

A citizen must not willfully hinder, delay, or obstruct a law enforcement officer discharging his "official powers or duties." RCW 9A.76.020; SMC 10.07.032. Officers are performing official duties even during an arrest that later turns out to be without probable cause, provided they were not acting in bad faith or engaged in a "frolic" of their own. *State v. Hudson*, 56 Wn. App. 490, 496-97, 784 P.2d 533 (1990). Even if the officer is acting unlawfully, the citizen must still comply, and rely on legal recourse. *State v. Barnes*, 96 Wn. App. 217, 224-25, 978 P.2d 1131 (1999) (citing *State v. Valentine*, 132 Wn.2d 1, 19, 935 P.2d 1294 (1997)).

Even if Mr. Hays' interpretation of the code is correct, the only effect would be that Ms. Stewart, the driver, would prevail if she were to challenge the ticket. She would not be relieved from her duty to stop and cooperate. Similarly, just because the passenger is not seized when the car he is riding in is lawfully stopped for a traffic infraction does not mean that he is not required to comply with the instructions of the officers controlling the

. . .

scene. Mr. Hays was required to cooperate, whether the traffic citation issued to the driver was valid or not.

The alleged traffic infraction here may be debatable. But this does not excuse Mr. Hays' failure to cooperate with officers at the scene.

Hays, 99 Wn. App. at 660-61.

Presently, the appellant does not argue that the officers involved in this case were engaged in some frolic or were acting in bad faith, nor could he. Therefore, a sufficient additional ground exists for the arrest and detention of Mr. Bewick. See Nast v. Michels, 107 Wn.2d 300, 308, 730 P.2d 54 (1986) ("[A]n appellate court may sustain a trial court on any correct ground, even though that ground was not considered by the trial court"); and see State v. Gibson, 152 Wn. App. 945, 958, 219 P.3d 964, (2009) (applying the above rule to a trial court's order denying the suppression of evidence). Additionally, RAP 2.5(a) provides, "A party may present a ground for affirming a trial court decision which was not presented to the trial court if the record has been sufficiently developed to fairly consider the ground." The appellate court may affirm the trial court on an alternative theory, even if not relied on below, if it is established by the pleadings and supported by proof. State v. Lakotiy, 151 Wn. App. 699, 707, 214 P.3d 181, (2009), State v. Flowers, 57 Wn. App. 636, 640-41, 789 P.2d 333 (1990) (probable cause to arrest plus exigent

16

circumstances supported warrantless entry); *State v. Sondergaard*, 86 Wn. App. 656, 657-58, 938 P.2d 351 (1997) ("we may affirm a trial court's decision on a different ground if the record is sufficiently developed to consider the ground fairly"). Here, the issue was fairly raised below. CP 25-26 (State's Response), 30-32 (Defendant's Reply). The facts were agreed to for the most part and the defendant concedes that he ran away from the Marshals when Agent Eric Carlson yelled "stop, police." Appellant's Br., p. 12. Therefore, this is an additional basis for arresting the defendant.

C. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ORDERED THE \$800 IN MANDATORY FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS, AND ANY ISSUE REGARDING THAT PORTION OF THE SENTENCE WAS WAIVED BY THE DEFENDANT'S FAILURE TO RAISE THE CLAIM TO THE TRIAL COURT.

The trial court ordered \$800 in financial obligations. CP 36. This included the \$500 crime victim assessment, \$100 DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) collection fee, and \$200 criminal filing fee. Id. These are mandatory legal financial obligations, each required irrespective of the defendant's ability to pay. State v. Lundy, 176 Wn. App. 96, 102, 308 P.3d 755 (2013). The \$500 victim assessment is mandated by RCW 7.68.035, the \$100 DNA collection fee is mandated by RCW 43.43.7541, and the \$200 criminal filing fee is mandated by RCW 36.18.020(2)(h). CP 36, 43-44. These statutes do not require the

17

trial court to consider the offender's past, present, or future ability to pay. *Lundy, supra*. To the extent that the trial court imposed mandatory legal financial obligations (LFOs), there is no error in the defendant's sentence.

Furthermore, the defendant failed to raise any claim regarding financial obligations in the lower court, and has therefore waived the right to raise them here. RAP 2.5(a) formalizes a fundamental principle of appellate review. No procedural principle is more familiar than that a constitutional right, or a right of any other sort, may be forfeited in criminal cases by the failure to make timely assertion of the right before a tribunal having jurisdiction to determine it. *United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 731, 113 S.Ct. 1770, 123 L.Ed.2d 508 (1993); *Yakus v. United States*, 321 U.S. 414, 444, 64 S.Ct. 660, 88 L.Ed. 834 (1944); *State v. Dyson*, 189 Wn. App. 215, 360 P.3d 25 (2015).

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